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EMLIOM GARZA, Crcuit Judge:

Defendant Bill WIlder pled guilty to one count of conspiring
to defraud an agency of the United States, in violation of 18
U S C § 371, and one count of defrauding a financial institution,
inviolation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 1344, pursuant to a plea agreenent with
the governnment. The district court sentenced Wl der to a seventy-
one nonth termof inprisonnent and three years supervised rel ease.

The district court also inposed a fine of four mllion dollars.

Chief Judge of the Northern District of Texas, sitting by
desi gnati on.



W | der now appeals his sentence on several grounds. W affirmin
part and reverse and remand in part.
I
Wlder, a licensed attorney and a self-described "land

trader/ devel oper," sought to build several hotels and to purchase
a federally-insured depository institution. WIder procured the
assi stance of Mark Hal e, the president and chief executive officer
of General Savings Association ("GSA"),! to help obtain funding for
t hese projects. Hal e then caused several loans to be nade to
Wl der, or for his benefit, that were not reflected in the regul ar
loan files of GSA.2 W /I der also requested, and received, from GSA
several irrevocable letters of credit,?® many of which were typed on
GSA stationery in Wlder's law office by Wl der's enpl oyees. Like
t he | oans, Hale did not cause the letters to be identified in GSA s

records and their existence was not disclosed to federal bank

exam ners. Wl der then used these |l etters as coll ateral on | oans he

! Wl der was a stockholder of GSA and the mpjority stockhol der,
founder, and chairnman of the board of Bedford Savings Association ("BSA"), both
of which were insured by the Federal Savings and Loan | nsurance Corporation.

2 Hal e apparently caused the |oans to be erroneously
identified as "sinple interest |oans,"” which did not require that
the recipient of the loans be identified. Moreover, Hal e kept the
| edger reflecting the true extent of GSA's |loans to Wlder in his
office and did not show it to federal banking authorities or to
GSA' s board of directors.

3 A letter of credit 1is "[a]n engagenment by a bank
.o made at the request of a custoner that the issuer will honor
drafts or other demands for paynent upon conpliance with the
conditions specifiedinthecredit." Black's LawDi ctionary 903-04
(6th ed. 1990).
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received fromother financial institutions. Additionally, WIder
obt ai ned several fraudulent certificates of deposit, which he used
as collateral for loans, listing GSA as the depository institution.

Hal e and W1l der also joined forces to conceal fromGSA s board
of directors Wlder's involvenent in GSA' s purchase of a tract of
land in Bedford, Texas. W | der purchased the land in 1984 for
$1.375 mllion. Approximtely one year |later, Hale presented to
GSA' s board a proposal to purchase the | and as i nvest nent property.
Hal e, however, infornmed the board that the | and was owned by R J.
Ki nney, one of WIlder's business associ ates. After GSA's board
approved t he purchase, W/l der deeded the | and to Ki nney, and Ki nney
received the $1.823 mllion purchase price. Ki nney then gave
Wl der the sale proceeds, and Wlder ultimtely paid Hale a
ki ckback of over $25, 000.

Subsequently, W/l der, Kinney, and Toni Lockridge fornmed G & K
Devel opnment, Inc. ("G&K") to purchase property near the Dall as-Fort
Forth Airport that Wl der had previously agreed to purchase. Kent
d asscock becane a director of &K, and W1 der signed an agreenent
assumng liability on any |oan obtained to purchase the property
and rel easi ng d asscock, Kinney, and &K fromliability. G&K then
obtained a loan from Bedford Savings, with part of the proceeds
used to purchase the land and part used by WIlder to pay various
debts. Wen G asscock conplained to Wlder that G&K was actual |y
a "front" for Wlder, WIder caused BSA to rel ease G asscock from

liability on the | oan. Freeport Devel opnent, Inc., a conpany
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listing Kinney as a director, l|ater purchased the land from &K
using | oan funds provided by BSA.* This |loan then was transferred
to GSA in an attenpt to hide its existence from bank exam ners;
Hal e caused GSA to assune the | oan wi thout the know edge of GSA' s
boar d.

After a |l engthy governnent investigation, WIlder, Kinney, and
d asscock were indicted on nunerous charges of defrauding GSA and
BSA. One the eve of trial, Wlder and the governnent entered into
a plea agreenent requiring Wlder to plead guilty to one count of
conspiring to defraud an agency of the United States and one count
of defrauding a financial institution. The agreenent al so provided
that the governnent would recommend a reduced sentence if WI der
assisted the governnent in investigating or prosecuting other
i ndi vi dual s. After debriefing WIlder on several occasions, the
governnent ultimately determned that WIder had not provided
sufficient cooperation and refused to nove for a reduced sentence.
Wl der then filed a notion to conpel specific perfornmance of the
pl ea agreenent, which the district court denied. W | der now
appeals this ruling and the sentence ultinmately inposed by the

district court.

4 Wlder's law firm performed the | egal work on this
transaction. In response to a request by the president of BSA for
all docunents prepared by Wlder's firm regarding the Freeport
transaction, however, WIlder denied that his firm prepared any
docunents.
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|1

Wlder first argues that the governnent, in the plea
agreenent, agreed to file a 8 5K1.1 notion requesting a downward
departure in his sentence,® and that the governnment breached this
prom se by not filing the notion. The governnent contends the
Departure Conmttee for the Eastern District legitimately
determ ned that the governnent should not nove for a 8§ 5KI1.1
departure because W der had not provided substantial assistance.?
The di sputed provision in the plea agreenent provided:

[I]n the event it is determned that [WIder] provides

substantial assistance in the investigation and/or

prosecution of other individuals, the United States w ||

nmove the court to depart downward from the guidelines

under Section 5K1.1. BILL WLDER understands that even

if such a notion is made, that the court has sole

di scretion to grant or deny the notion.
This agreenent bound not only the prosecutor in the Eastern
District, but also federal prosecutors in other districts who were

pursui ng possi bl e charges agai nst W/ der.

5 The Sent enci ng CGui del i nes provides that "[u] pon notion of
t he governnent stating that the defendant has provided substanti al
assi stance in the investigation or prosecution of another person
who has commtted an offense, the court my depart from the
gui del i nes. " United States Sentencing Comm ssion, Cuidelines
Manual , 8 5K1.1 (Nov. 1991).

6 The United States Attorney's office for the Eastern
District of Texas determ nes whether to recommend a 8§ 5KI1.1
departure in a particular case by referring the matter to its
Departure Commttee. Pursuant to the office's policies, the
prosecutor infornms the commttee of the extent, nature, and quality
of a defendant's assistance. A defendant also has the opportunity
to submt a statenent to the commttee. Here, the nenbers of the
comm ttee unani nously voted not to nove for a downward departure.
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A
"Whet her the governnment's conduct violated the ternms of the
pl ea agreenent is a question of law." United States v. Watson, 988
F.2d 544, 548 (5th Gir. 1993), cert. denied, ___ US. __ , 114 S
Ct. 698 (1994). Wl der, as the party alleging a breach of the plea
agreenent, bears "the burden of proving the underlying facts
establishing a breach by a preponderance of the evidence." | d.
"I'n determ ning whether the terns of the plea bargain have been
vi ol ated, the court nust determ ne whet her the governnent's conduct
is consistent with the parties' reasonable understanding of the
agreenent." United States v. Valencia, 985 F. 2d 758, 761 (5th Cr
1993).
B
Wl der submits that a letter witten by Charles W Cobb, a
Justice Departnent trial attorney in the Northern District of
Texas, denonstrated that W/ der provided substantial assistance,
t hereby obligating the governnent to file the notion for downward

departure.’” WIder also contends that he was prepared to provide

7 Cobb's letter stated: (1) Although Wlder was initially
reluctant to provide details of various transactions, Wlder |ater
was "much nore forthcom ng" and provi ded "nunmerous docunents" and
"information [that] helped in the investigation of other
i ndi vi dual s at Bedford Savi ngs Association." (2) Wlder testified
before a grand jury "concerning nunmerous transactions" and
"indirectly" hel ped the governnent obtain two indictnments. (3)
Wl der's cooperation also may have convinced Bedford's fornmer
president to plead guilty to conspiracy to conmt bank fraud. (4)
Wl der additionally testified before the grand jury about ki ckbacks

that he received fromEdward Richter; "[a]s aresult of [WIder's]
known cooperation, Edward Richter pled guilty" to two bank fraud
of fenses. (5) WIlder's cooperation "likewise led to a guilty plea
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additional assistance to the governnent, but the governnent
informed him that it did no |longer needed his assistance. The
governnent, on the other hand, argues both that the plea agreenent
allowed the governnent to determ ne whether WIder provided
substantial assistance and that the Departure Commttee's good-
faith determnation that WIder had not provided substantial

assi stance was correct.®

by WIliam Kenp" to nmaking fal se statenents, and Cobb anti ci pated

that information provided by WIlder would "lead to future
i ndi ctnments. " (6) Finally, WIlder provided "very valuable"
informati on and docunents during an investigation of Bedford's
conptroller; "[a]s a result of M. WIlder's cooperation,"” Cobb
anticipated "an indictnent against the conptroller . . . in the
near future." The prosecutor did not submt Cobb's letter to the
Departure Committee because it was not witten until after the

Comm ttee had net.

In the sane vein, we note that the governnent, while declining
tofile 8§ 5K1.1 notion, filed a notion before sentencing detailing
Wl der's cooperation. The notion reported that Wl der "responded
to every request for docunents by the Governnent," "furnished
vol um nous docunent s" regardi ng his own case, and "net wth several
agents of the F.B. 1. at their convenience and di scussed what he
knew about what they inquired." This notion also referenced and
i ncl uded Cobb's letter.

8 The prosecutor in this case, Assistant United States
Attorney Larry Eastepp, submtted two letters to the commttee
detailing Wlder's assistance. The first, from governnent agent
Nor man M ddl eton to Eastepp, stated: (1) WIder provi ded docunents
relating to the prosecution of d asscock; "[a] | though these
docunents did not result in conviction, WIlder's cooperation was
hel pful ." (2) "WlIlder allowed the Governnent access to any
docunents in his possession and at tines allowed his accountants to
assist the Governnent in the analysis of these records.” (3)
Wlder's grand jury testinony against Ed and Devon R chter
"substantiated the information which the Governnent already had,
strengt heni ng the Governnent's case," al though the governnent "had
enough information without Wlder's testinony to prosecute the
Richters." "I'n  summary, " M ddl eton concl uded, "Wl der's
information was true, accurate, and assisted the prosecution of
several individuals, but cane at a tinme when the Governnment was
al ready positioned to prosecute these people, wthout Wlder's
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In United States v. Hernandez, 996 F.2d 62, 63 (5th Cr.
1993), a case involving facts remarkably simlar to the case at
bar, the plea agreenent provided that "if M. Hernandez should
provi de substantial assistance to the Governnent, . . . the
Gover nnment may nmake a notion for downward departure at sentencing."
When the governnment refused to nove for a downward departure
Her nandez sought to conpel the governnent to do so, arguing that
"he provided every bit of assistance within his power." 1d. at 64.
The district court, explicitly finding that Hernandez had not
provi ded substantial assistance, rejected Hernandez's claimthat
t he governnent breached t he pl ea agreenent. W vacat ed Hernandez's
sentence, however, because the district court did not "determ ne
whet her the governnent's conduct [was] consistent with the parties
reasonable interpretation of . . . what mght constitute

substanti al assistance."” |Id.

assi stance. "

The second letter, fromEastepp to the commttee, stated: (1)
Wlder did not testify in the dasscock trial because the plea
agreenent with WIder was not reached until shortly before
d asscock's trial began, and Eastepp did not have tine to debrief
Wlder. (2) OQher than one grand jury appearance, "WIlder [w as
not . . . asked to testify for the governnent” and there exi sted no
i nstances "where his testinmony nmay have been needed and was not
used." (3) WIlder offered primarily historical or corroborative
i nformati on about other co-conspirators. (4) Ed Richter's deci sion
to enter into a plea agreenent was "in part attributable to
information that Wl der provided." (5) Wile Wlder "alluded to
having detailed information about the crimnal acts of others,
.. . when pressed he [either did] not cone forward with this
additional information or it [wlas . . . corroborative/known
i nformation." (6) "WIlder has only reluctantly cooperated in
[related civil] suits filed against him personally."”
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Here, as in Hernandez, the district court concl uded))w t hout
maki ng any discrete factual determ nations as to the reasonable
expectations of either WIder or +the governnent))that the
assistance provided by WIlder was not substantial.?® See id.
Al t hough the governnment, and the district court, believed the
i nformation provided by Wlder to be insubstantial, "[t]he record

is silent as to just what the parties did believe, at the
time the plea agreenent was entered into, would constitute
substantial assistance." |d. (enphasis added). Moreover, "[t]he
record is sinply devoid of information concerning what quantity or
quality of information and cooperation the parties contenpl ated
that [Wlder] would (but did not) provide in this case." 1d. W
al so note the district court failed to address Wlder's clai mthat
governnment investigators failed to both followup on infornmation he
provided and fully debrief him See United States v. Melton, 930
F.2d 1096, 1098-99 (5th Cr. 1991) (noting that when a defendant,
"in reliance on a [promse by the governnent], accepted the
governnent's plea offer and did his part, or stood ready to perform
but was unable to do so because the governnent had no further need

or opted not to use him the governnent is obliged to nove for a

o At sentencing, the district court found that Wlder "did
not render a full and conplete debriefing and substantial
assi stance to the Governnent as agreed by him Instead, [WI der's]
assi stance [was] for the nobst part grudging, reluctant, and not
forthcomng, and he revealed information only upon specific
requests.” I n a nmenorandumopinion i ssued shortly after W1 der was
sentenced, the district court found the governnent's determ nation
that WIlder did not provide substantial assistance to be
"objectively reasonable."”
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downward departure"). Consequently, we nmust remand this case for
such determ nations.® On renmand, if the district court determ nes
that WIlder did provide substantial assistance, it nust then
determ ne whether the plea agreenent obligates the governnent to
move for a downward departure))i.e., whether the governnent, in the
agreenent, retained its discretion to refuse to nove for a dowward
departure even if WIlder ©provided substantial assi stance
Her nandez, 996 F.2d at 66; see also Wade v. United States,

us.  __, 112 S C. 1840, 1843, 118 L. Ed. 2d 524 (1992)
(recogni zing that the governnent could obligate itself to file a
subst anti al -assi stance notion in exchange for a defendant's guilty
pl ea) .

1]

Wl der's next contention, which is closely related to the
substantial assistance issue, is that the district court erred in
sent enci ng hi mbased on ex parte information, thereby depriving him
of the opportunity to rebut any incorrect factual assunptions nade
by the court. Specifically, WIlder challenges the governnent's
decision to submt ex parte to the district court the letters upon
whi ch the Departure Commttee relied when deciding not to file the
8§ 5K1.1 departure notion. The governnment contends that WI der had
no right to examne the letters and, even if such a right exists,

W der waived that right by not asserting it prior to sentencing.

10 We of course express no view as to the ultimte
resol ution of these issues.
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W agree that WIlder waived any right he may have had to
receive the letters submtted by the governnent when he failed to
petition the district court for access to the letters prior to
sentencing. See United States v. Lenons, 941 F.2d 309, 320 (5th
Cir. 1991) (rejecting a claimthat the district court should have
provided Lenons with certain |letters because "when the district
court referenced that correspondence, Lenons did not object, did
not request to examne it, and did not request that it be nade a
part of the record"). Wile WIlder argues that he did "object[] to
the fact that he had not been permtted to even see the letters,"
the record reveals that Wlder did not ask the district court to
order production of the letters until after he had been sentenced. !
Consequently, we need not determ ne whether Wlder had a right to
exam ne the docunents submtted by the governnent because, if such

a right exists, Wlder waived it.

1 Accordingly, it is irrelevant that Wlder "repeatedly
requested the information" from the governnent "but had been
deprived of it." Moreover, even when W/I| der broached the subject

of the letters during the sentencing hearing, he did not ask the
district court to order their production so that he could respond
to their contents prior to being sentenced. See Transcript of July
28, 1992 Sentencing Hearing at 24 ("l presune the Court is aware of
the fact that we have not been privy to viewing the material s that
are in canera . . "), id. at 39 ("may we ask the Governnent to
consi der al |l ow ng Counsel for the Defendant access to [the | etters]
so we can nake an adequate determnation with regard to the
appel l ate issues, Your Honor?"); id. at 39-40 ("I would nove at
this time that the Court consider unsealing [the letters] so that
we can adequately and intelligently make a decision wth regard to
the appeal; and if we do decide to appeal, whether we can
adequately respond and intelligently argue our position before the
Court of Appeals.").
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|V

Wl der next asserts that the district court erred by
increasing his offense level by two points for obstruction of
justice.? WIder contends that the district court, in finding the
obstruction enhancenent applicable, unlawfully relied on evidence
obt ai ned pursuant to WIlder's cooperation with the governnment. 3
W review the district court's finding that WIder obstructed
justice using the clearly erroneous standard. United States v.
Pof ahl , 990 F.2d 1456, 1481 (5th Cr. 1993).

The basis for the obstruction enhancenent was the district
court's finding that Wl der renoved a loan file fromBSA to hi nder
the governnent's investigation. WIder, however, argues that he
provided the loan file to the governnment only after the plea
agreenent was signed, thus barring the governnent from using the
file against himin any way. The governnent failed to produce

evi dence denonstrating whether it obtained the loan file from Mark

12 US S G 8 3CL.1 provides: "If the defendant willfully
obstructed or inpeded, or attenpted to obstruct or inpede, the
adm ni stration of justice during the investigation, prosecution, or
sentenci ng of the instant offense, increase the offense | evel by 2
| evel s. "

13 The pl ea agreenent provided that "no truthful statenents
made during the course of [WIlder's] cooperation will be used
against him nor . . . will any such information . . . be used in

determ ning the applicable guideline range, with the exception of
the provisions of 8§ 1B1.8(b) of the US.S.G" US. S. G § 1B1.8(b)
provides, inter alia, that the governnent nmay use against a
defendant any information "known to the governnent prior to
entering into the cooperation agreenent."
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Hale, as it contends, or from Wlder, as WIder contends.* The
governnent also failed to denonstrate whether it knew, prior to
entering into the plea agreenent, that Wl der had renoved the file
fromBSA. Because there is not "sufficient evidence in the record
to permt the sentencing judge to conclude that [ W1 der] obstructed
the adm nistration of justice," United States v. Frances-Torres,
869 F.2d 797, 800, we are conpelled to find the district court's
concl usi on that W I der obstructed justice to be clearly erroneous. ?®
See id. at 801 (noting that 8§ 3Cl.1 should not be applied "when the
prosecution has failed to procure avail abl e evidence crucial to the
resolution of a controversy"). As this error affected the district
court's selection of the sentence inposed, we vacate Wlder's
sentence and remand for resentencing wthout consideration of the
obstruction enhancenent. United States v. Surasky, 976 F.2d 242,
247 (5th Gr. 1992).

14 We note, however, that a letter sent by Eastepp to the
8§ 5K1.1 conmttee reported that "[t]he main set of docunents [to
whi ch t he governnent gai ned access pursuant to the plea agreenent]
consisted of an original loan file taken out of Wlder's
institution, Bedford Savings, ostensibly by Wlder."

15 Notwi t hstanding the | ack of evidence regarding the
ci rcunst ances under which the governnent obtained the |loan file,
t he governnent argues that the obstruction finding was appropri ate
given Wlder's tardiness in returning to the probation office the
standard fi nanci al di sclosure statenent needed to properly conplete

the PSR- However, "[a] defendant's . . . refusal to. . . provide
information to a probation officer . . . is not a basis for
application" of the obstruction enhancenent. US S G § 3CL1,
coment. (n.1). Accordingly, we do not believe that Wlder's

three-nonth delay in returning the disclosure statenent, standing
al one, constitutes obstruction of justice.

- 13-



Vv

Wl der next argues that he is entitled to a downward
adjustnent in his offense | evel because he accepted responsibility
for his crines. Under 8§ 3El.1(a) of the guidelines, "[i]f the
defendant clearly denonstrates a recognition and affirmative
acceptance of personal responsibility for his crimnal conduct,"
the district court may reduce the defendant's offense | evel by two
poi nts. "The nere entry of a guilty plea, however, does not
entitle a defendant to a sentencing reduction for acceptance of
responsibility as a matter of right." United States v. Shipley,
963 F.2d 56, 58 (5th Cr.) (per curianm), cert. denied, U S
_, 113 S. . 348, 121 L. Ed. 2d 263 (1992).

Entry of a plea of guilty prior to the commencenent of

trial conbined with truthful adm ssion of involvenent in

the offense and related conduct wll constitute

significant evidence of acceptance of responsibility

C However, this evidence may be outwei ghed by

conduct of the defendant that is inconsistent with such

acceptance of responsibility.
US SG 8§ 3E1.1, comment. (n.3) (enphasis added). Here, the
district court found that Wlder did not fully accept
responsibility for his crimnal acts. W reviewthis finding using

the clearly erroneous standard. United States v. Hardeman, 933

F.2d 278, 283 (5th Gr. 1991).1%

16 We have not definitively determ ned what standard applies
when reviewing a district court's refusal to credit a defendant's
acceptance of responsibility. Conpare Hardeman, 933 F.2d at 283
(applying the clearly erroneous standard) with United States v.
Thomas, 870 F.2d 174, 176 (5th G r. 1989) (applying the "w thout
foundati on" standard) and United States v. Brigman, 953 F.2d 906,
909 (5th Gr.) (applying the "great deference" standard), cert.
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Wil e W1l der accepted responsibility for sonme acts, he did not
denonstrate "sincere contrition"” regarding the full extent of his
crimnal conduct. See United States v. Beard, 913 F.2d 193, 199
(5th Cr. 1990). I nstead, WIlder sought to mnimze his
participation in the offenses, blame others for his crimnal
activity, and resist efforts by the Resolution Trust Corporation
and the probation office to investigate his financial affairs. See
United States v. Wndham 991 F. 2d 181, 183 (5th Gr.) (noting that
a defendant is required under the pre-1992 guidelines to accept
responsibility for all relevant crimnal conduct to be eligible for
a downward departure under 8 3E1.1), cert. denied, ___ US _ |
114 S. C. 444, 126 L. Ed. 2d 377 (1993); United States v. Alfaro,
919 F. 2d 962, 968 (5th Cr. 1990) (sane). Moreover, W/l der did not
agree to plead guilty until the eve of trial, thereby putting the
governnent to nuch effort and expense preparing for trial. See
US S G 8 3EL. 1, comment. (1(g)) (noting that the district court
shoul d consider "the tineliness of the defendant's conduct in
mani festing the acceptance of responsibility"). Accordingly, the
district court's finding that Wl der did not accept responsibility

IS not erroneous.

denied, __  US __ , 113 S. C. 49, 121 L. Ed. 2d 16 (1992).
However, "[t] here appears to be no practical difference between the
three standards." United States v. Cartwight, 6 F.3d 294, 304

(5th Gir. 1993).
-15-



Vi

-16-



Wl der contends that the district court erred in awardi ng him
a four point upward adjustnent for his role in the conspiracy.
Such an adjustnent is proper "[i]f the defendant was an organi zer
or leader of a crimnal activity that involved five or nore
participants or was otherw se extensive." U S S. G 8§ 3Bl.1(a). In
determ ning the nunber of participants in a crimnal activity, the
district court nust focus upon "the nunber of transactional
participants, which can be inferentially cal cul ated provi ded that
the court does not | ook beyond the of fense of conviction to enlarge
the class of participants.” United States v. Barbontin, 907 F.2d
1494, 1498 (5th CGr. 1990). The term "offense,"” however, "is
broader than the of fense charged, and i ncl udes the "~contours of the
underlying schene itself.'" United States v. Kl einebreil, 966 F. 2d
945, 955 (5th Cr. 1992) (quoting United States v. Mr, 919 F.2d
940, 945 (5th Gr. 1990)). Thus, "the scope to be considered

enconpasses . . . the underlying activities and participants
that directly brought about the nore Iimted sphere of the el enents
of the specific charged offense.” United States v. Manthei, 913
F.2d 1130, 1136 (5th Cr. 1990). W review the district court's
findings on this issue under the clearly erroneous standard.
United States v. Mergeson, 4 F.3d 337, 347 (5th Cr. 1993).

The record adequat el y denonstrates that Wl der participatedin
a crimnal activity involving at |east five individuals. First,
Wl der hinmself may be counted as a participant. Bar bontin, 907

F.2d at 1498. Moreover, the record reflects that Kinney,

-17-



d asscock, and Hale also were participants in the underlying
crimnal schene. Finally, evidence submtted by WI der indicates
that at | east one of his enpl oyees prepared the fraudulent letters
of credit and was otherwi se associated with the counterfeit
certificates of deposit and the fraudulent I|and transfers.
Consequently, the crimnal schene in which Wl der was a parti ci pant
i nvol ved at |east five individuals.?'

The record also establishes Wlder's status as a | eader or
organi zer of the schene. |In determ ning whether a defendant was a
| eader or organizer, the district court should consider:

t he exerci se of decision making authority, the nature of

participation in the conmssion of the offense, the

recruitment of acconplices, the clainmed right to alarger
share of the fruits of the crinme, the degree of
participation in planning or organi zing the offense, the
nature and scope of the illegal activity, and the degree
of control and authority exercised over others.
US SG § 3Bl1.1, coment. (n.3). Here, application of these
factors indicates that WIlder organi zed and managed al nost every
aspect of the schene. For exanple, Wlder enlisted the assistance
of d asscock, Hale, and Kinney in defrauding the two savings and
| oans and concealing Wlder's participationintransactions through

the use of shamland transfers. Moreover, Wl der agreed to rel ease

d asscock and Kinney fromliability regarding the G& | and pur chase

17 We also note that the parties stipulated that Wlder's
schene to defraud the two savings and | oans caused | osses of over
five mllion dollars. See United States v. Allibhai, 939 F. 2d 244,
252-53 (5th Gr. 1991) (upholding district court's finding that a
nmoney | aunderi ng schene was "ot herw se extensive" because over one
mllion dollars was involved), cert. denied, = US _ | 112 S
Ct. 967, 117 L. Ed. 2d 133 (1992).
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transaction and received the bul k of the proceeds and benefits from
the fraudul ent schenes. The evidence thus anply supports the
district court's conclusion that Wl der exercised aleadershiprole
in the crimnal schene.
VI

W der next argues that the district court erred in inposing
a four mllion dollar fine, which was an upward departure fromthe
gui deline range.'® In determ ning whether to inpose a fine, the
district court nust consider two factors particularly relevant to
our inquiry: "any pecuniary loss inflicted upon others as a result
of the offense” and "the need to deprive the defendant of illegally
obtained gains fromthe offense.” 18 U S. C § 3572(a)(3), (4).
Moreover, "[i]f any person derives pecuniary gain fromthe of fense,
or if the offense results in pecuniary loss to a person other than
t he defendant, the defendant may be fined not nore than the greater

of twice the gross gain or twice the gross loss . . . ."1% 18

18 Section 5E1. 2 of the guidelines provides a fine range for
Wl der's offense level of $10,000 to $100, 000.

19 The gui del i nes al so recogni ze that upward departures from
the fine guideline range are appropriate in certain cases:

VWhere . . . two tines either the anmobunt of gain to the
def endant or the anmount of |oss caused by the offense
exceeds the maxi mum of the fine guideline, an upward
departure fromthe fine guideline nmay be warranted.

Moreover, where a sentence within the applicable
fine guideline range would not be sufficient to ensure
both the di sgorgenent of any gain fromthe offense that
ot herwi se woul d not be disgorged . . . and an adequate
punitive fine, an wupward departure from the fine
gui del i ne range nmay be warrant ed.
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US C 8§ 3571(d). Accordingly, WIlder nust have derived a gross
gain or caused gross losses of at least two mllion dollars to
justify the four mllion dollar fine.
A

Al t hough we have recognized the general standards for
review ng departures fromthe sentencing guidelines, we have not
yet addressed the standards for review ng upward departures from
fine guideline ranges. Because the statute governing appellate
review of sentences draws no distinction between review of
departures from fine or inprisonnent ranges, see 18 U S C A
8§ 1372(e)-(f) (West Supp. 1993), the standards we previously have
established for review of upward departures from inprisonnent
ranges are equally applicable to review ng departures from fine
ranges. See United States v. Graham 946 F.2d 19, 21 (4th CGrr.
1991) (reaching the sanme conclusion). Thus, we reviewthe district
court's decision to depart from the guidelines for an abuse of
discretion. See United States v. Roberson, 872 F.2d 597, 601 (5th
Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U S. 861, 110 S. C. 175, 107 L. Ed. 2d
131 (1989). "A departure fromthe guidelines will be affirnmed if
the district court offers "acceptable reasons' for the departure
and the departure is "reasonable.'" United States v. Vel asquez-
Mer cado, 872 F.2d 632, 635 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 493 U S. 866,
110 S. C. 187, 107 L. Ed. 2d 142 (1989). The reasons articul ated

by the district court in support of its decision to depart fromthe

US S.G 8 5E1.2, cormment. (n.4).
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gui delines constitute findings of fact that we review for clear
error. Id.
B
The district court based its decision to upwardly depart on
two grounds: first, that the enhanced fine was necessary to ensure
that W/l der disgorged any gain fromhis crimnal activities and,
second, that the enhanced fine was permtted by 8 3571(d) because

Wlder's crimnal acts resulted in pecuniary |losses to other

persons exceeding five mllion dollars. The district court's
findings that Wl der derived at least two mllion dollars in gross
gains and caused at least two mllion dollars in gross losses is

not clearly erroneous. For exanple, the parties stipulated to the
fact that the |osses caused by WIlder's schene exceeded five
mllion dollars. Moreover, the record adequately denonstrates that
W der received gross profits of over two mllion dollars fromthe
schenme to defraud. Thus, the district court did not abuse its
di scretion by upwardly departing fromthe fine guideline range.
VI

Wl der's last contention is that the governnent breached the
pl ea agreenent by reconmmending to the district court that it adopt
the PSR, which in turn recomended the upward departure regarding
Wlder's fine. The governnent in the plea agreenent prom sed "not
to oppose any sentence falling within the guidelines established

for" the offenses commtted by WIder. Wl der argues that the

prosecutor violated that promse by telling the district court that
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the probation office had supplied the court "with an excellent
Presentence Report [providing] the Court with great detail about
this case . . . , [giving] the Court a good picture of what
occurred inthis case and . . . fully infornfing] the Court so that
the Court can nake the proper decision in this case."

Wlder failed to object to the coments that he now
chal | enges. Consequently, we review his claim for plain error
United States v. Col dfaden, 959 F.2d 1324, 1327 (5th Gr. 1992).
Plain error

is error which, when examned in the context of the

entire case, is so obvious and substantial that failure

to notice and correct it would affect the fairness,

integrity or public reputation of judicial proceedings.

. . . Aternatively stated, when a new factual or |ega

issue is stated for the first tinme on appeal, plain error

occurs when our failure to consider the question results

in "mani fest injustice."”

United States v. Lopez, 923 F.2d 47, 50 (5th Cr.) (citation
omtted), cert. denied, ___ US |, 111 S. . 2032, 114 L. Ed.
2d 117 (1991). The governnent's breach of a plea agreenent can
constitute plain error. Coldfaden, 959 F.2d at 1328.

The prosecutor's conmments do not anobunt to a breach of the
pl ea agreenent. Fromthe context in which the prosecutor nade the
quoted remarks, it is clear that he was not recommendi ng that the
district court depart from the applicable fine guideline range.

Rat her, the prosecutor was commenting on the useful ness of the

PSR s recitation of facts.? Additionally, the PSR did not

20 Because Wl der opted to plead guilty instead of going to
trial, thereby depriving the district court of the opportunity to
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affirmatively state that the district court should inpose a fine
greater than the guideline anount,?! and the i ssue of departing from
t he gui deline range was not nentioned during sentencing until the
district court announced its intent to inpose an enhanced fine.
Cf. United States v. Hand, 913 F. 2d 854 (10th Cir. 1990) (no breach
where the prosecutor presented no direct evidence in contradiction
to agreenent). This case, therefore, is distinguishable fromthe
two cases cited by Wlder to support his claimthat the governnent
violated the plea agreenent by recommendi ng an upward departure.
See United States v. Canada, 960 F.2d 263, 269 (1st Cr. 1992)
(where the governnent, after agreeing to recommend that the
sentencing court inpose a specific sentence, failed to reconmend
t hat sentence, urged the judge to i npose a |l engthy sentence and to
send a very strong nessage); ol dfaden, 959 F.2d at 1328 (where
the governnent, in the face of a prom se to make no recommendati on
as to the defendant's sentence, "suggested a base offense |evel,
argued for a mninumoffense level . . . , later advanced a hi gher

base offense level . . . , and recommended an upward departure").

hear the factual basis for the charges brought by the governnent,
the PSR necessarily needed to provide the sentencing court "wth
great detail about this case" and give the court "a good picture of
what occurred.” Wthout such information, the sentencing court
coul d not properly inpose a sentence.

21 The PSR, under the heading "Factors That May Warrant
Departure," stated that the anmount of the | oss caused by the schene
to defraud and the extensive nature of the schene "support an
upward departure for the fine anount."”
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Accordingly, we find that the governnment did not breach the plea
agreenent by commending the PSR to the district court.
| X

For the foregoing reasons, we REVERSE the district court's
determnation that W]Ider obstructed justice, VACATE Wlder's
sentence, and REMAND for resentencing. On remand, the district
court should determne the validity of Wlder's allegations that he
rendered substantial assistance pursuant to the terns of the plea
agreenent and that the governnent breached that agreenent. In al

ot her respects, we AFFIRM the judgnent of the district court.
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